IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NATALIE SLAUGHTER

Plaintiff

SUPREME COURT
CASE NO. 17-1732

VS.

POLK COUNTY
CASE NO. CVCV 051603

DES MOINES UNIVERSITY
COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC
MEDICINE

Defendant

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE JUDGE JEFFREY FARRELL
Fifth Judicial District

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Bonnie J. Heggen
BONNIE J. HEGGEN,
Attorney at Law
PO Box 859
Ankeny, Iowa 50021
Telephone: (515) 988-8132

John P. Roehrick
ROEHRICK LAW FIRM, P.C.
529 43RD Street
Des Moines, IA 50312
Telephone: (515) 243- 1403

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WERE NO MATERIAL DISPUTED FACTS THAT DES MOINES UNIVERSITY ACCOMMODATED THE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH DISABILITY

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S.242, 106 S.Ct.2505, (1986)

Barrera v. Nickolas, 683 N.W. 2d 111 (Iowa 2004)

Bultemeyer v. Ft. Wayne Community Schs., 100 F 3d 1281, 1284-85 (7th Cir, 1996)

Craven v. Blue Cross Blue Shield, 214 F. 3d 1011 (8th Cir. 2000)

Kowitz v. Trinity Health, (8th Cir, 2016), 839 F. 3d 742

Palmer College of Chiropractic v. Davenport Civil Rights Comm 'n, 850 N.W.2d 326

Redding v. Nova Southeastern Univ. Inc. (DC. SD Fla. 2016), 165 F. Supp. 3d 1274

Taylor v. Phoenixville School Dist. 184 F. 3d 296 (3rd Cir. 1999)

Walstead v. Woodbury County, (ND, Ia 2000), 113 F. Supp. 3d 1318

Wong v. Regents of Univ. of Cal. 192 F. 3d 807 (9th Cir. 1999)

29 CFR 1630.2(g) - Definition of Disability

29 CFR 1620.2(j)(i-ix) - Predictable Assessments

29 CFR, Pt. 30 App at page 403

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE KNOWLEDGE OF AN EMPLOYEE OF THE APPELLEE UNIVERSITY COULD NOT BE IMPUTED TO THE UNIVERSITY BECAUSE OF THE PSYCHO-THERAPIST PRIVILEGE.

Chidester v. Needles, 353 N.W.2d 849 (Iowa 1984)

Chung v. Legacy Corp., 548 N.W. 2d 147 (Iowa 1996)

Doe v. Cent. Iowa Health Sys., 766 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 2009)

Hammons Hotel, Inc. v. Acon Window System, (8th Cir. 2005), 394 F. 3d 607

Harder v. Anderson, 764 N.W.2d 534 (Iowa 2009)

McMaster v. Iowa Bd. of Psychology Examiners, 509 N.W.2d 754, (Iowa 1993)

Riniker v. Wilson, 623 N.W. 2d 220 (Ia. Ct. App. 2000)

State v. Heemstra, 721 N.W.2d 549, (Iowa, 2006)

State v. Knight, 204 Iowa 819, 216 N.W.104 (Iowa, 1927)

Vlotho v. Hardin County, 509 N.W. 2d 350, (Ia 1993)

Section 228.1, Iowa Code (2015)

Section 228.3, Iowa Code (2015)

Section 228.5, Iowa Code (2015)

Section 622.10, Iowa Code (2017)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2) this case should be retained for review by the Iowa Supreme Court, as this case:

a). Presents a substantial issue of first impression with respect to the Trial Court's finding that knowledge of a psycho-therapist obtained in the course of her employment by a University could not be imputed to her employer, by reason of the psycho-therapist privilege established in §622.10, Iowa Code.

b). Presents substantial questions of enunciating legal principals concerning the duties and responsibilities of an educational institution to engage in an interactive process to afford a student who is suffering from a mental disability with accommodations under the Iowa Civil Rights Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act as Amended.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises from the grant of a Summary Judgment by the Trial Court Judge, the Honorable Jeffrey Farrell in the District Court for Polk County on the Motion of the Defendant-Appellee Des Moines University, (hereinafter “DMU”), as well as the denial by the Trial Court of the Plaintiff-Appellant’s (hereinafter “Slaughter”) motion as to whether a claim of privilege by an employee of DMU, was admissible.

Ms. Slaughter filed a motion to determine the admissibility of the psycho-therapist privilege if claimed by an employee of DMU would defeat an imputation of knowledge of a student’s mental health disability to the employer DMU. Both parties also filed Motions for Summary Judgment. The basis for Ms. Slaughter’s motion was that DMU had failed to accommodate Slaughter when she was suffering from a mental health disability, which effected her academic performance. DMU filed a Motion for Summary Judgment alleging that DMU had accommodated Slaughter and she academically failed to perform, thus justifying her dismissal from the Osteopathic medicine program.

The Trial Court found that there was no dispute of material fact that DMU had, as a matter of law, accommodated Slaughter. Accordingly, there was no lack of good faith by DMU in its treatment of Ms. Slaughter. Additionally, the Trial

Court found that the psycho-therapist privilege existed as a matter of law, was not waived by Ms. Slaughter, and by reason of the privilege, the knowledge of the therapist could not be imputed to her employer, DMU. Thereafter, a Notice of Appeal was filed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Natalie Slaughter, a graduate of the University of North Dakota, commenced her studies as a first year student in the College of Osteopathic Medicine at Des Moines University in August, 2015, having passed her National Boards and interview (App. pp. 171-175). She began to experience difficulty with her academics, even though she had signed her Technical Standards Certification, believing at that time, she could perform as asserted. (App. pp. 237, Depo Ex. 3). Of her own volition she went to Student Counseling Center, a department within the University which provided counseling services for students through its therapist employees, one of whom was Dr. Emily Sanders. (App. pp. 245, Depo. Ex. 23). Ms. Slaughter also sought assistance through another department – the Center for Academic Success and Enrichment (CASE). At the same time and throughout the academic year, Shelly Oren, a faculty member at DMU was assigned to be Ms. Slaughter’s faculty adviser. She frequently met with Ms. Slaughter because of academic difficulties she was having with her course studies.

During September, October and November of 2014, Ms. Slaughter was in a depressive state (App. pp. 209-210). Dr. Sanders believed that, by reason of confidentiality she was unable to speak to any of Ms. Slaughter’s professors or

her faculty advisor. (App. pp. 211-213). Also, Dr. Sanders believed she could not, for the same reason, go to CASE and speak with them or request Ms. Slaughter's records. (App. pp. 217). Dr. Sanders believed this, even though she knew depression was a disability which impacted detrimentally upon Ms. Slaughter's life and ability to function in daily life, including academic performance. (App. pp. 214-215). Shelly Oren also believed that she could not talk to Dr. Sanders, the administration or other faculty because of confidentiality. (App. pp. 223). Ms. Slaughter also utilized tutors and other resources, but her depression continued.

As the first semester progressed the administration was well aware that Ms. Slaughter was struggling with academics because DMU had a committee established to track students and their academic performance. This committee was called the Academic Progress Committee (APC) and was chaired by Dr. Donald Matz. The Associate Dean, Dr. John Canby was an ex-officio member of the committee.

In November, Ms. Slaughter was summoned to appear before the committee to discuss her status, since by that time she had failed Biochemistry. On December 16, 2014 she met with the committee and was accompanied by her faculty advisor, Shelly Oren. Following the meeting that afternoon, Ms.

Slaughter and Ms. Oren met and Ms. Slaughter told Ms. Oren she had been in a state of depression that semester. Ms. Oren told Ms. Slaughter to advise the committee of her condition. Ms. Slaughter wrote an e-mail to Dr. Matz for which he thanked Ms. Slaughter. (App. pp. 242-243, Depo. Ex. 14-15). On December 19, 2014, Dr. Matz met with Ms. Slaughter and she was given notice that she was being placed on Academic Probation. (App. pp. 244, Depo. Ex. 16). She was also required to meet with Dr. Canby and develop an action plan, done in January, 2015. Thus, as of December 17, 2014, no fewer than three (3) employees of DMU were aware of Ms. Slaughter's disability - a mental health impairment. No interactive process was thereafter undertaken to determine if accommodation(s) could be made to assist Ms. Slaughter with her disability so as to provide her with opportunity equal to that of her non-disabled peers to achieve academic success in the upcoming semester and throughout her career at DMU.

In August, 2014, DMU had revised its Accommodation policy to permit faculty and administration to discuss among themselves as well as third parties on a need to know basis, a student's disabilities. Neither Dr. Sanders nor Ms. Oren took advantage of the revised policy, each believing that confidentiality prohibited communication. (App. pp. 252, Depo. Ex. 54).

Dr. Matz never shared the e-mail from Ms. Slaughter with the Associate

Dean, Dr. John Canby, as evidenced by Dr. Canby's testimony at deposition.

When presented with her e-mail at the time of his deposition, Dr. Canby testified he had never seen it. (App. pp. 231). Though Dr. Matz was well aware that Dr. Canby was to meet with Ms. Slaughter to devise an "action plan" after the first of the calendar year 2015, he did not tell Dr. Canby about Ms. Slaughter's depression. Dr. Canby testified that if he had seen the letter or known of Ms. Slaughter's condition, he would not have dismissed her, and he would likely have considered placing her on medical leave. (App. pp. 235-236).

Dr. Matz failed to comply with the policies of DMU regarding an accommodation nor did he do anything else to assist Ms. Slaughter, knowing full well her condition was the specific reason for her reluctance to participate in the Extended Pathway Program. She felt it would exacerbate her condition. *Ms. Slaughter at no time refused* to enter the Extended Pathways Program, but rather attempted to communicate about her depression with DMU, trying to engage them and find a way to move forward. Note should also be made that Ms. Slaughter was permitted to remediate her first semester failure of biochemistry, but because she failed a spring semester course in physiology she was dismissed in July, 2015. Her transcript, however, showed that she was progressing and achieving success. (App. pp. 255, Depo. Ex. 62).

Ms. Slaughter filed a complaint with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission. She subsequently requested and received a right to sue letter. A three (3) count petition was thereafter filed, alleging violations under the Iowa Civil Rights Act, Chapter 216. Count I alleged that DMU discriminated against Ms. Slaughter because of her mental health disability. Count II alleged that DMU had failed to accommodate her because of her disability and Count III alleged retaliation by DMU. At the time of the hearing on the respective motions, Ms. Slaughter abandoned and dismissed her discrimination claim, which was subsumed in her failure to accommodate claim, as well as her claim of retaliation. (App. pp. 140-142). Thus the only remaining count was the failure to accommodate Ms. Slaughter because of her mental health disability. Hearing was held on September 29, 2017 and on October 6, 2017 the Trial Court sustained DMU's motion for summary judgment on the dismissed discrimination and retaliation claim as well as the claim for DMU's failure to accommodate Ms. Slaughter. The court also held that the psycho-therapist privilege applied to Dr. Sander's and thus there was no imputed knowledge to DMU concerning Ms. Slaughter's disability. The knowledge of Ms. Shelley Oren and Dr. Matz being imputed to DMU was not addressed by the Trial Court. Ms. Slaughter timely filed her Notice of Appeal.

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THERE WERE NO MATERIAL DISPUTED FACTS THAT DES MOINES UNIVERSITY ACCOMMODATED THE APPELLANT'S MENTAL HEALTH DISABILITY.

SCOPE OF REVIEW AND PRESERVATION OF ERROR.

Summary Judgment cases are reviewed for corrections of error at law. *Stevens v. Iowa Newspapers, Inc.*, 728 N.W. 2d 823 (Iowa 2007); *Carr v. Bankers Trust Co.*, 546 N.W. 2d 901 (Iowa 1996).

Error was preserved by the Trial Court's grant of the Motion for Summary Judgment for Des Moines University and the denial of the Ms. Slaughter's Motion for Summary Judgment.

ARGUMENT

General issues of material fact were present which precluded the Court from dismissing, via summary judgment, Ms. Slaughter's claim as to whether DMU failed to accommodate her mental health disability. Evidence was present which would have permitted a jury to return a verdict in her favor, *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S.242, 106 S.Ct. 2505, (1986); *Barrera v. Nickolas*, 683 N.W. 2d 111 (Iowa 2004).

The Trial Court, in its ruling, found that DMU “did not dispute that plaintiff requested accommodations.” (App. 142). Regardless, the Court then makes a finding that: 1). “throughout her communications with Oren [faculty advisor], Dr. Martz and Dr. Danby (*sic*), plaintiff did not request any accommodation”; 2). Plaintiff could not shift all responsibility for developing a reasonable accommodation to DMU; and 3). a reasonable fact finder could not find that DMU failed to act in good fact when engaging in an interactive process to accommodate the plaintiff. (App. 144-145). Additionally, the Trial Court found that Ms. Slaughter’s requested accommodations, which would likely have permitted her to satisfy DMU’s academic standards were NOT reasonable, (App.147) which is clearly a finding of fact. Reasonableness turns on the ease, cost and difficulty (constituting undue hardship) for the University to provide accommodation(s) which would serve to meet the student’s needs. There was no examination of reasonability nor any assertion made by DMU based on these facts. It is Ms. Slaughter’s position that this was the Trial Court venturing in error into the role of fact finder. In doing so, the Trial Court further erred in its finding that no disputes of material fact existed as to the question of whether DMU engaged in the interactive process necessary to arrive at the accommodation(s) designed to meet the needs of the student’s disability. Clearly, this was an issue about which the

jury could have found otherwise.

Before consideration of the interactive process requirements is undertaken, the issue of “disability” needs to be addressed. The adoption in 2009 of the ADA Amendment Act (ADAAA) changed the focus of the rules of construction making it easier to establish the existence of a disability. Thus the focus became - did a discriminatory act take place as opposed to the earlier practice and emphasis on - is there a disability?

29 CFR 1630.2(g) defines “disability” and establishes three (3) prongs under which a disability is established. The regulation states:

“1630.2(g) *Definition of “Disability”*: (1) In general. Disability means, with respect to an individual –
(i) a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major life activities of such individual;
(ii) a record of such an impairment; or
(iii) Being regarded as having such an impairment as described in paragraph (i) of this section.

The rules then proceed to define a “physical or mental impairment” as: “(2) any mental or psychological disorder, such as....emotional or mental illness.” 29 CFR 1630.2(h)(2).

In keeping with the Congressional intent of *not* focusing on disability, the regulations set forth rules of construction for the determination of whether the impairment “substantially limits” a major life activity. 29 CFR 1630.2(j)(i)-(ix).

Thereafter the regulations specifically set out impairments which will be found to “substantially impair”. 29 CFR 1630.2(j) (3) states:

(3) *Predictable assessments* - (I). The principles set forth in paragraphs (j)(1)(I) through (ix) of this section are intended to provide for more generous coverage and application of the ADA’s prohibition on discrimination through a framework that is predictable, consistent, and workable for all individuals and entities with rights and responsibilities under the ADA as amended.

(ii) Applying the principles set forth in paragraphs (j)(1)(I) through (ix) of this section, the individualized assessment of some types of impairments will, in virtually all cases, result in a determination of coverage under paragraphs (g)(1)(I) (the “actual disability” prong) or (g)(1)(ii) (the “record of” prong) of this section. Given their inherent nature, these types of impairments will, as a factual matter, virtually always be found to impose a substantial limitation on a major life activity. Therefore, with respect to these types of impairments, the necessary individualized assessment should be particularly simple and straight forward.

(iii) For example, applying the principles set forth in paragraphs (j)(1)(I) through (ix) of this section, it should be easily concluded that the following types of impairment will, at a minimum, substantially limit the major life activities indicated:...***....and major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, and schizophrenia substantially limit brain function. The types of impairments described in this section may substantially limit additional major life activities not explicitly listed above.

The current ADAAA recognizes a major depressive state as a disability. Dr. Sanders testified depression impairs daily life and academics. (App. 214-215). As an employee of DMU providing Ms. Slaughter mental health services weekly, Dr. Sanders knew not only that Ms. Slaughter was disabled, but that she was having

academic problems as a result.

The Defendant did not dispute that Ms. Slaughter was disabled during her academic year at DMU. Rather the fighting issue was whether there was a failure to accommodate her as a student with a disability.¹

The Trial Court properly recognized the procedure a post-secondary educational institution has to follow in a ADAAA claim, when quoting from *Palmer College of Chiropractic v. Davenport Civil Rights Comm'n*, 850 N.W.2d 326, 337, which stated:

“That obligation requires an individualized and extensive inquiry - an institution must carefully consider each disabled student’s particular limitations and analyze whether and how it might accommodate that student in a way that would allow the student to complete the school’s program without lowering academic standards.”

This is known as the engagement in an “interactive process”. The failure to engage in an interactive process is shown by: (1) the employee had a disability known to the employer (educational institution regarded the same as an employer by reason of the Rehabilitation Act), *Wong v. Regents of Univ. of Cal.* 192 F. 3d 807 (9th Cir. 1999); (2) accommodation(s) or assistance was requested; (3) the

¹ Though a disparate treatment claim was initially plead, it was abandoned by the time the parties arrived at the summary judgment stage. (App. 140-141). Though abandoned, the trial court still undertook to rule on it and it appears to Ms. Slaughter that the trial court’s ruling on this claim may well have influenced its decision on the failure to accommodate claim.

employer did not make a good faith effort to assist the employee in seeking accommodation(s); and, (4) the employee could have been reasonably accommodated, but for the employer's lack of good faith, *Craven v. Blue Cross Blue Shield*, 214 F. 3d 1011 (8th Cir. 2000). As stated in 29 CFR, Pt. 30 App. at page 403:

“If an employee with a *known disability* is having difficulty performing his or her job, an employer may inquire whether the employee is in need of a reasonable accommodation. In general, however, it is the responsibility of the individual with a disability to inform the employer that an accommodation is needed.” (emphasis supplied).

The interactive process involves both the employer and the individual with a disability. Once Ms. Slaughter's disability became known, whether it be DMU's employee, Dr. Sanders' knowledge, or at a higher level, the chairperson of the APC committee, Dr. Matz's, knowledge, (App. 251, Depo Ex.48), DMU had a duty to initiate the process, even without a request. *Walstead v. Woodbury County*, (ND, Ia 2000), 113 F. Supp. 3d 1318. (Employee had difficulty reading, writing and concentrating and this was known to the employer and throughout the company).

A person who is disabled, particularly with a mental illness need not use the magic words, “I want/need an accommodation”. See *Bultemeyer v. Ft. Wayne*

Community Schs., 100 F 3d 1281, 1284-85 (7th Cir, 1996):

“The employer has to meet the employee half-way; and, if it appears that the employee may need an accommodation, but doesn’t know how to ask for it, the employer should do what of it can to help. The employer must make a reasonable effort to *determine the appropriate accommodation*. (Emphasis supplied). The appropriate reasonable accommodation is best determined through a flexible interactive process that involves both the employer and the employee with the disability.”

See also, *Kowitz v. Trinity Health*, (8th Cir, 2016), 839 F. 3d 742 (“...she need not use technical language to make the request or suggest what accommodations might be appropriate. This is in keeping with the logic of the interactive process which is intended to be informal and flexible.”)

Furthermore, DMU, as did FWCS in *Bultemeyer*, 100 F.3d, 1281, 1286, failed to inquire of either Ms. Slaughter or her therapist, what was needed to make accommodation(s) work for her. In fact, Ms. Sanders could have requested an accommodation for Ms. Slaughter (irrespective of the question of privilege to be addressed in Division II) per the EEOC Compliance Manual, Enforcement Guidance for psychiatric disabilities, 20-21, which states:

“18. May someone other than an employee request a reasonable accommodation on behalf of an individual with a disability?
Yes, a family member, friend, health professional or other representative may request a reasonable accommodation....”

Ms. Slaughter’s claim of discrimination was based on the ADA provision

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