IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court Case No. 17-1732 Polk County Case No. CVCV051603

NATALIE SLAUGHTER,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DES MOINES UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE

Defendant-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE JUDGE JEFFREY FARRELL

FINAL BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLEE DES MOINES UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE

KELLY R. BAIER (#AT0000682)

Direct Dial: (319) 861-8723

Email: kbaier@bradleyriley.com

of

BRADLEY & RILEY PC

2007 First Avenue SE

P.O. Box 2804

Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-2804

Phone: (319) 363-0101

Fax: (319) 363-9824

MELISSA A. CARRINGTON (#AT0013033)

Direct Dial: (319) 358-5563

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT DISMISSING SLAUGHTER'S CLAIM THAT DMU FAILED TO PROVIDE HER WITH REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION

The district court properly determined that Des Moines University reasonably accommodated Slaughter's disability.

A. Preservation of Error

Des Moines University agrees that Slaughter preserved error on the issue appealed.

B. Scope of Review

Des Moines University agrees that appellate review of the district court's decision is for corrections of errors at law.

C. Analysis

Appellant Slaughter argues that genuine issues of material facts precluded the district court from finding that DMU engaged in an interactive process and provided reasonable accommodation to her.

Summary judgment is appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3). A factual issue is material only if "the dispute is over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit." *Peak v. Adams*, 799 N.W.2d 535, 542 (Iowa 2011) (citations omitted). "An issue of fact is 'genuine' if the

11

evidence is such that a reasonable finder of fact could return a verdict or decision for the nonmoving party." *Parish v. Jumpking, Inc.,* 719 N.W.2d 540, 543 (Iowa 2006). "Speculation is insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact." *Cemen Tech, Inc., v. Three D Indus., L.L.C.,* 753 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 2008). The nonmoving party "must set forth specific facts showing the existence of a genuine issue for trial." *Hlubek v. Pelecky,* 701 N.W.2d 93, 95 (Iowa 2005) (citing Iowa R. Civ. P. 1981(5)). This Court's review is limited to whether a genuine dispute concerning a material fact exists and, if not, whether the district court correctly applied the law. *Homan v. Branstad,* 887 N.W.2d 153, 164 (Iowa 2016).

1. The Undisputed Facts Demonstrate that DMU Initiated an Interactive Process with Slaughter

Appellant Slaughter argues there are genuine issues of fact that preclude the district court's finding that DMU engaged in an interactive process with her regarding reasonable accommodation of her particular limitations. Slaughter asserts that even though she did not formally request accommodation, DMU had a duty to initiate the interactive process and failed to do so. Slaughter Brief p. 14.

The interactive process is informal and flexible. *E.E.O.C. v. Product*Fabricators, Inc., 763 F.3d 963, 971 (8th Cir. 2014). Participation in the interactive process includes actions such as communicating to gather information,

analyzing whether and how a student might be accommodated, and suggesting possible accommodations. *See Palmer Coll. of Chiropractic v. Davenport Civil Rights Comm'n*, 850 N.W.2d 326, 337 (Iowa 2014). Slaughter provides no authority for her suggestion that a "sit down" meeting must occur to properly engage in the interactive process.

To determine whether DMU failed to engage in the interactive process, Slaughter must establish a genuine issue with respect to one of the following facts: (1) whether DMU knew of her disability; (2) whether Slaughter requested accommodations or assistance; (3) whether DMU did not in good faith assist her in seeking accommodations; and (4) whether Slaughter could have been reasonably accommodated but for DMU's lack of good faith. *See Koester v. YMCA of St. Louis*, 855 F.3d 908, 912 (8th Cir. 2017); *Kallail v. Alliant Energy Corp. Servs., Inc.*, 691 F.3d 925, 933 (8th Cir. 2012). The only issue in this appeal is whether DMU did not in good faith assist Slaughter in seeking accommodations.

The facts are undisputed that when Slaughter first experienced academic difficulties in August 2014, DMU contacted Slaughter and offered her assistance through the Center for Academic Support and Enrichment ("CASE"), Student Counseling Services, her course directors, and her faculty advisor. (App. 176-177; App. 239). Subsequently, DMU provided Slaughter with one-on-one tutoring and study strategies, advice from the Academic

Progress Committee ("APC"), and weekly psychotherapy at no cost. (App. 178-184; App. 240). DMU also offered to allow Slaughter to enroll in the 5year Extended Pathways to Success Program ("EPSP"). (App. 190-194; App. 242). In addition, Dr. Don Matz, Chair of the APC met individually with Slaughter during the Fall Term 2014 and on December 19, 2014, to assist her in overcoming her particular limitations. (App. 185-186, 189). Further, Dr. Craig Canby, Associate Dean of Academic Curriculum and Medical Programs, individually met with Slaughter on January 7, 2015 to consult with her and prepare an action plan for her. (App. 235-236). Based on these undisputed material facts, no reasonable fact finder could return a verdict or decision that DMU failed to assist Slaughter in good faith in seeking reasonable accommodations. See Koester, 855 F.3d at 912; Mershon v. St. Louis University, 442 F.3d 1069, 1077 (8th Cir. 2006) (affirming summary judgment for university on failure to accommodate claim, where plaintiff's "academic record [was] replete with defendants' efforts to accommodate him in his academic endeavors," and noting that university was not required to provide every requested accommodation); Kallail, 691 F.3d at 933 (plaintiff failed to show defendant did not engage in interactive process, where defendant reasonably accommodated plaintiff by offering her alternate position).

Slaughter has presented no evidence upon which a reasonable finder of fact could decide that DMU did not in good faith assist her in seeking

accommodations. Slaughter does not dispute any of the DMU actions to accommodate her set forth in the prior paragraph. Instead, Slaughter argues that Dr. Emily Sanders, the DMU Psychologist who was providing psychotherapy to Slaughter, should have requested accommodations on behalf of Slaughter even though Slaughter did not request Dr. Sanders to do so, and did not consent to the disclosure of her mental health information by Dr. Sanders. It would have been a violation of Iowa law and Dr. Sanders' ethical obligations to disclose Slaughter's mental health information without Slaughter's consent. *See* Iowa Code § 228.2(1) and § 622.10(1) (2017).

The undisputed facts show that even though Slaughter did not make a formal request for accommodation in August 2014 when she first experienced academic difficulty, DMU initiated the interactive process by providing Slaughter with the services of CASE and Student Counseling, by providing counseling from DMU course directors and Slaughter's academic advisor, and by providing Slaughter with psychotherapy with Dr. Sanders at no cost. When Slaughter failed her biochemistry course, the Academic Progress Committee met with her and discussed possible courses of action. One accommodation offered by the APC was the 5-year Extended Pathways to Success Program. This Court has recognized that programs such as the EPSP that change the length of time permitted for the completion of degree requirements are reasonable accommodations. *See Palmer*, 850 N.W.2d at 335. Thus, the

undisputed facts show that DMU engaged in good faith in an interactive process with Slaughter regarding reasonable accommodations. Further, as a matter of law, the accommodations offered Slaughter by DMU were reasonable. For these reasons, the district court's decision should be affirmed.

2. The Accommodations Provided by DMU Were Reasonable and Related to Slaughter's Disability

Slaughter argues that the accommodations DMU provided to her were not reasonable because the accommodations were also available to other students. Slaughter Brief p. 20. The obligation to reasonably accommodate a student "requires an individualized and extensive inquiry" and should consider the student's "particular limitations" and analyze whether and how the institution "might accommodate that student in a way that would allow the student to complete the school's program without lowering academic standards." Palmer, 850 N.W.2d at 337 (quoting Wong v. Regents of Univ. of Cal., 192 F.3d 807, 826 (9th Cir. 1999)). It is undisputed that beginning in August 2014, DMU referred Slaughter to the Student Counseling Center. Slaughter informed the Counseling Center that she had trouble sleeping, had high anxiety, and that she had previously been diagnosed with depression and anxiety. The Student Counseling Center then provided Slaughter weekly psychotherapy counseling with Dr. Emily Sanders at no cost. (App. 178-180; App. 240). The provision of psychotherapy counseling to assist Slaughter with

her high anxiety and depression specifically addressed the particular limitations Slaughter identified, and thus is a reasonable accommodation. *See Palmer*, 850 N.W.2d at 337. Even though other students might also receive psychotherapy counseling, by providing such counseling to Slaughter to specifically address her condition, DMU directly accommodated Slaughter's particular limitations. Psychotherapy counseling is not provided every student, but only those students who request it and demonstrate a need for the services. (App. 201).

Similarly, in August 2014, DMU referred Slaughter to CASE to assist her with her academic difficulties. Although Slaughter denied that she had a physical or learning disability, she met with a counselor and discussed ways in which to deal with her high anxiety and trouble sleeping to improve her academic performance. CASE provided accommodations to Slaughter including electronic resources, counseling regarding time management, and individual tutoring. (Slaughter Dep. p. 51, Ll. 4-23). Again, even though other students might receive these same accommodations, Slaughter was provided the accommodations in response to her individual request and the accommodations were directed to Slaughter's particular limitations. Therefore, the accommodations were reasonable. *See Palmer*, 850 N.W.2d at 337.

Perhaps most significantly, after Slaughter met with the Academic Progress Committee in December 2014, the APC recommended that Slaughter enroll in the 5-year Extended Pathways to Success Program. Again, even

though other students might be offered enrollment in the EPSP, the recommendation by the APC that Slaughter enroll in the 5-year program was a result of an individualized assessment of Slaughter's particular limitations and was a specific accommodation that would allow Slaughter to complete her education without lowering academic standards. This Court has specifically recognized that changes in the length of time permitted for the completion of degree requirements are a reasonable accommodation. *See Palmer*, 850 N.W.2d at 335. Whether other students might receive the same accommodation is not determinative of whether DMU made an individualized assessment of Slaughter's particular limitations and offered accommodations designed in a way that would allow Slaughter to complete her education. The district court correctly found that DMU offered reasonable accommodations to Slaughter, and the court's decision should be affirmed.

3. The Accommodation Requested by Slaughter But Not Provided by DMU Was Not Reasonable

The only accommodation requested by Slaughter that DMU did not grant was to allow Slaughter to take elective courses while she was on academic probation. Slaughter offered only her own speculation as to how taking electives would assist her with her academic difficulties. Summary judgment may be appropriate if a plaintiff fails to present evidence from which a jury may infer that the accommodation is reasonable on its face. *See Hlubek*, 701 N.W.2d

at 95; Halpern v. Wake Forest University Health Sciences, 669 F.3d 454, 464 (4th Cir. 2012) (citing U.S. Airways, Inc. v. Barnett, 535 U.S. 391, 401-402 (2002)).

Because Slaughter has presented no evidence from which a jury may infer that taking elective classes would assist her with meeting DMU's academic standards, the district court correctly determined that taking elective classes was not a reasonable accommodation, and the court's decision should be affirmed.

II. A DES MOINES UNIVERSITY STAFF PSYCHOLOGIST'S KNOWLEDGE OF SLAUGHTER'S MENTAL HEALTH INFORMATION CANNOT BE IMPUTED TO DMU

The district court properly ruled that a Des Moines University Staff
Psychologist's knowledge of Slaughter's mental health information cannot be imputed to DMU.

A. Preservation of Error

Des Moines University agrees that Slaughter preserved error on the issue appealed.

B. <u>Scope of Review</u>

Des Moines University agrees that appellate review of the district court's decision is for corrections of errors at law.

C. Analysis

The district court ruled that mental health information about Slaughter gained by a DMU Staff Psychologist who was providing psychotherapy services to Slaughter could not be imputed to DMU because it was part of a mental

health professional – patient relationship protected from disclosure by Iowa Code § 228.2 and Iowa Code § 622.10. (App. 111-112). The district court found further that Slaughter had not waived or otherwise consented to the disclosure of the information. (App. 110). Slaughter now argues that because the DMU Staff Psychologist, Dr. Emily Sanders, did not disclose Slaughter's mental health information to Slaughter's instructors or other DMU employees, DMU failed to reasonably accommodate Slaughter. This argument fails for the following two reasons.

 Even Though Dr. Sanders Did Not Disclose Slaughter's Mental Health Information, DMU Provided Reasonable Accommodations to Slaughter

The undisputed facts show that even though Dr. Sanders did not disclose Slaughter's mental health information to Slaughter's instructors or other employees of DMU, DMU began the interactive process to consider reasonable accommodations for Slaughter when Slaughter first failed an exam in August 2014. DMU did not wait for Slaughter to specifically request an accommodation. Rather, once Slaughter began to experience academic

_

¹ Slaughter also states that Shelley Oren, Slaughter's faculty advisor, had knowledge that Slaughter experienced depression and did not disclose the information to other DMU employees. However, Slaughter first told Oren of her depression on December 16, 2014, immediately following the APC meeting regarding Slaughter's poor academic performance. Oren advised Slaughter to inform Dr. Matz, Chair of the APC. Slaughter followed Oren's advice and informed Matz of her depression by email dated December 17, 2014. (App. 224-229; App. 251).

difficulties, DMU sought Slaughter out and offered her accommodations through CASE, Student Counseling Services, her course directors and faculty advisor. (App. 176-178; App. 239); see Kowitz v. Trinity Health, 839 F.3d 742, 746 (8th Cir. 2016) (employee not required to request accommodation "in so many words"). After DMU began offering accommodations to Slaughter in August 2014, Slaughter requested, and DMU provided, individualized study support and one-on-one tutoring through CASE, free weekly psychotherapy sessions through the Student Counseling Center, and one-on-one advice and academic assistance from the APC and her faculty advisor. (App. 176-183; App. 239, 240). Dr. Sanders first gained knowledge of Slaughter's mental health information on September 3, 2014. (App. 205).

These undisputed facts demonstrate that DMU initiated the interactive process before Dr. Sanders had knowledge of Slaughter's mental health information. Thus, the fact that Dr. Sanders did not disclose Slaughter's mental health information to Slaughter's instructors or other employees of DMU in no way delayed or diminished DMU's timely, reasonable accommodation of Slaughter. Because DMU reasonably accommodated Slaughter even though Dr. Sanders did not disclose Slaughter's mental health information to other DMU employees, the district court's ruling should be affirmed.

2. As a Mental Health Professional, Dr. Sanders' Knowledge of Slaughter's Mental Health Information Cannot be Imputed to DMU

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